
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
The Democracy Service 
 

Civic Centre 3 
 

High Street 
 

Huddersfield 
 

HD1 2TG 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Leigh Webb 
 

Email: leigh.webb@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 19 August 2020 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel 
 

The Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel will meet in the Virtual 
Meeting - online at 2.00 pm on Thursday 27 August 2020. 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel members are:- 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Harpreet Uppal (Chair) 
Councillor Martyn Bolt 
Councillor Richard Murgatroyd 
Councillor John Taylor 
Councillor Richard Eastwood 
Councillor Yusra Hussain 
Chris Friend (Co-Optee) 
Eilidh Ogden (Co-Optee) 
Andrew Bird (Co-Optee) 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
This is where Councillors who are attending as substitutes will say 
for whom they are attending. 
 

 
 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 9 
July 2020 
 

 
 

1 - 6 

3:   Interests 
 
The Councillors will be asked to say if there are any items on the 
Agenda in which they have disclosable pecuniary interests, which 
would prevent them from participating in any discussion of the items 
or participating in any vote upon the items, or any other interests. 
 

 
 

7 - 8 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most debates take place in public. This only changes when there is a 
need to consider certain issues, for instance, commercially sensitive 
information or details concerning an individual. You will be told at 
this point whether there are any items on the Agenda which are to 
be discussed in private. 
 

 
 

 

5:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Panel will receive any petitions and hear any deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also hand in a petition 
at the meeting but that petition should relate to something on which 
the body has powers and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10 (2), Members of the 

 



 

 

Public should provide at least 24 hours’ notice of presenting a 
deputation. 
 

 
 

6:   Public Question Time 
 

Due to current Covid-19 restrictions, Members of the Public may submit 

written questions to the Panel. Any questions should be emailed to 

executive.governance.gov.uk no later than 2pm on 19 August 2020. 
 

 
 

 

7:   Housing Rent and Support to Council Tenants and 
Support to Homeless Households and Rough Sleepers 
During the Covid 19 Pandemic 
 
To provide Panel members with information on the provision of 
services and support to Council tenants in relation to the payment of 
housing rent and to homeless households and rough sleepers during 
the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
Contact: Sarah Clayton, Head of Housing Management, KNH  

    Helen Geldart, Head of Housing Services, KC 
 
 

 

 
 

9 - 18 

8:   Work programme 2020/21 
 
To consider the Panel’s Work Programme for 2020/21 
 
Contact: Leigh Webb, Principal Governance and Democratic 
Engagement Offcier 
 

 
 

19 - 22 

 
 



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Leigh Webb   
 

 
KIRKLEES COUNCIL 

 
ECONOMY AND NEIGHBOURHOODS SCRUTINY PANEL 

 
Thursday 9 July 2020 
 
Present: Councillor Harpreet Uppal (Chair) 

Councillor Martyn Bolt 
 Councillor Richard Eastwood 

Councillor Richard Murgatroyd 
Councillor John Taylor 
 

  
Co-optees: Andrew Bird (Co-optee) 

Chris Friend (Co-optee) 
Eilidh Ogden (Co-optee) 
 

  
In attendance: Councillor Peter McBride –  Deputy Leader and 

Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
Councillor Naheed Mather – Cabinet Member for 
Greener Kirklees 
Councillor Rob Walker – Cabinet Member Culture and 
Environment  
Angela Blake - Service Director- Economy and Skills 
Simon Taylor – Head of Development and Master 
Planning 
Naz Parkar – Service Director for Growth and 
Housing 

  
  
Apologies: Councillor Yusra Hussain 

 
  
 

 
1 Membership of the Committee 

Apologies were received from Councillor Yusra Hussain.  
 

2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 5 March 2020 be agreed as a correct 
record. 
 

3 Interests 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel – 9 July 2020 
 

2 
 

4 Admission of the Public 
All items were considered in public session. 
 

5 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 

   
  6. Public Question Time 
                 No questions were asked under this item. 
           

7.  Kirklees Economic Recovery Plan 2020-2023 
 

Angela Blake, Service Director for Economy and Skills gave a presentation setting 
out details in relation to the development of the Kirklees Economic Recovery Plan 
(ERP). The presentation initially highlighted the impact of Covid-19 in Kirklees which 
included statistics in respect of employment and the increase in benefit claims in the 
region. 
 
With regard to the objectives of the Plan the following information was set out 
highlighting the means of supporting economic recovery through: 
 

• Collective investment, procurement and recruitment decisions; use of key 
property and other assets; 

• Funding and support for business resilience and growth; and 
• Helping to mitigate the economic impacts of the virus on our most 

vulnerable residents. 

It was further reported that The ERP will:  

 
• Be intelligence-led, driven by emerging evidence on local economic 

impacts and needs; 
• Integrate business and infrastructure investments with interventions to 

support vulnerable people and achieve inclusive growth; and, 
• Balance support for sectors with the potential to deliver growth during the 

recovery and those that need to strengthen their resilience.  
 
The Council will create a £40m Economic Recovery Fund by: 
 

 Repurposing our Property Investment Fund and Start Up and Retention 
Fund 

 Prioritising other capital investments that will directly support the 
recovery.  

 Continued recourse to funding form Government, the West Yorkshire 
Combined Authority/Leeds City Region LEP and other sources 

 
The presentation set out existing and new initiatives aimed at supporting business 
growth, people skills and employment as well as providing information in respect of 
climate change issues and the green environment.  

 

 Questions and comments were invited from Panel Members and the following 
issues were raised: 

 
 

Page 2



Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel – 9 July 2020 
 

3 
 

 Councillor Bolt highlighted the need for the green economy and active travel 
initiatives to be at the forefront of the recovery plan and referred to the need 
to be more proactive with regard to cycling schemes and community asset 
transfers to community groups. Councillor Mather explained that the plan was 
a draft, fluid document that was aligned with existing blueprints and the local 
plan. With regard to active travel measures it was reported that this was 
being done on a phased basis to support regeneration and an assurance was 
given active travel was vitally important. 
 

 Councillor Taylor expressed concern with regard to plans to re-purpose and 
re-profile the Capital Programme and referred to the implications for the 
medium term financial plan with regard to planned returns on investments. 
 

 Councillor Taylor highlighted the issue of potential falling rolls at University 
and the impact for Huddersfield with regard to student accommodation and 
the student economy. Concerns were also raised in relation to excess office 
accommodation as a result of the pandemic and the financial implications of 
this in terms of rental income. Councillor McBride acknowledged the 
changing nature of office work, which will need to be taken into account as 
town centre schemes develop and gave an assurance that the 
reconfiguration and redevelopment of town centres across Kirklees will 
continue despite the pandemic. 
 

 In response to a question concerning White Rose Forest, Councillor Walker 
acknowledged the importance of engaging with local ward Councillors. 
 

 Councillor Taylor stressed the importance of a Transport Strategy for 
Kirklees, which includes reference to strategic linkages north/south as well as 
east/west. 
 

 Eilidh Ogden highlighted that in order to understand the impacts from the 
pandemic, detailed data and evidence relating to the impact on particular 
locations, industries and skills. This will ensure that support and investment is 
targeted effectively. 
 

 In response to a question from Councillor Murgatroyd concerning a co-
operative development agency it was reported that the issue was captured 
within the West Yorkshire Recovery Plan.  
 

 With regard to the passive house standard of housing development, it was 
explained that a consultant was being commissioned develop a pilot scheme 
that would test the environmental principles associated with passive house. 
Andrew Bird, co-opted member, highlighted the importance of the need for 
green skills for young people to enable to construction of environmentally 
efficient housing. 
 

 Councillor Eastwood stressed the importance of getting business support  
information to local businesses effectively and also the importance of liaising 
with businesses in respect of plans for active travel initiatives 
 

Page 3



Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel – 9 July 2020 
 

4 
 

 Andrew Bird commented that any re-profiling of capital spend should 
recognise the importance of linking in with the local workforce and maximise 
spending within the local economy. 
 

 Councillor Mather highlighted that young people are at the centre of plans for 
economic recovery and stressed the importance of working in partnership to 
ensure skill levels are developed to the benefit of the local economy. 
 

RESOLVED – 
 
 1.    That the Panel highlight the importance of emphasising community wealth 

building as part of the economic recovery plan. 
  
2.   That detailed, evidenced modelling continue to be undertaken on particular 

locations, industries and skills to ensure that support and investment is targeted 
effectively. 

 
3.   That the Panel recognises the importance of new green opportunities with 

regard to the build environment and supports the continued development of 
green skills training for the local workforce. 

 

   
8. Huddersfield Blueprint Update 
 

Simon Taylor, Head of Development & Master Planning, gave a presentation to the 
Panel, setting out an update on the following Town Centre Programmes: 
 

 Huddersfield Station Gateway 

 Huddersfield St Peters 

 Huddersfield Queensgate 

 Dewsbury  
 

The presentation set out details of cross cutting generic themes including public 
realm and housing and provided information relating to governance arrangements in 
place. Following a commitment from Cabinet, the report considered at a meeting on 
16 June, in respect of the George Hotel, was appended to the agenda. 
 
In addition to the Town Centre Programme Update, Tim Lawrence provided details 
in respect of the Emergency Travel Fund, including details of proposals which build 
on the place making concepts laid out in the Huddersfield and Dewsbury blueprints. 
Tranche 1 funding had been received, with Tranche 2 funding due towards the end 
of August. It was reported that the intention is now to work up a programme  
across the District , that focusses on an ambitious but deliverable programme of 
active travel measures. The Active Travel Programme will form part of the Strategic 
Transport Policy. 
 
Questions and comments were invited from Panel Members and the following 
issues were raised: 
 

Page 4



Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel – 9 July 2020 
 

5 
 

 In response to a question about vacant retail space within Dewsbury Arcade 
and plans to fill the units, Simon Taylor explained that going forward there are 
plans for mixed use units including creative workshops. It was acknowledged 
that as a result of Covid-19 and the rise in internet shopping there will be a 
need diversify uses within town centre projects. 

 

 With regard to active travel, Tim Lawrence explained that it was the aim to 
link in with place based working, which would recognise the different nature 
and need of individual wards. The input of ward councillors will inform 
decisions.  
 

 Councillor Bolt commented on the need to consult recognised local cycling 
groups. Tim Lawrence gave an undertaking to wider consultation will take 
place in future, to include specific local groups 
 

 With regard to regeneration, Councillor Bolt stressed the need for business 
plans to be produced and shared. Simon Taylor explained that plans were 
currently being worked on 
 

 Councillor Eastwood highlighted the need for off road cycle paths to 
encourage cyclists 
 

 With regard to the George Hotel, it was reported that it was hope to work with 
Rugby League Care to look at some involvement of the Hotel to tie in with 
next year’s world cup 

 
RESOLVED - 

 
The Panel recognises the opportunities to do things differently as a result of the 
pandemic, including how the Council invest and how innovative active travel 
measures can be introduced. 
 

 
 9         Work Programme 2020/21 

 
That the Panel’s Work Programme for 2020/21 and forthcoming items/activities was 
submitted.  
 
RESOLVED –  
 
That the Panels Work Programme and forthcoming items/activities be noted. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL

C
O

U
N

C
IL

/C
A

B
IN

ET
/C

O
M

M
IT

TE
E 

M
EE

TI
N

G
S 

ET
C

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 
Ec

on
om

y 
& 

N
ei

gh
bo

ur
ho

od
s 

S
cr

ut
in

y 
P

an
el

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
an

 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 

in
te

re
st

 re
qu

ire
 y

ou
 to

 
w

ith
dr

aw
 fr

om
 th

e 
m

ee
tin

g 
w

hi
le

 th
e 

ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 is

 u
nd

er
 

co
ns

id
er

at
io

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r 

in
te

re
st

 

Si
gn

ed
:  

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

   
   

   
D

at
ed

:  
  …

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
.. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
.  

 A
ny

 e
m

pl
oy

m
en

t, 
of

fic
e,

 tr
ad

e,
 p

ro
fe

ss
io

n 
or

 v
oc

at
io

n 
ca

rr
ie

d 
on

 fo
r p

ro
fit

 o
r g

ai
n,

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, u

nd
er

ta
ke

s.
  

A
ny

 p
ay

m
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
.  

 A
ny

 c
on

tra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
-  

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
  

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
  

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t i

n 
la

nd
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
av

e 
an

d 
w

hi
ch

 is
 w

ith
in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y.
  

 A
ny

 li
ce

nc
e 

(a
lo

ne
 o

r j
oi

nt
ly

 w
ith

 o
th

er
s)

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

ol
ds

 to
 o

cc
up

y 
la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 
au

th
or

ity
 fo

r a
 m

on
th

 o
r l

on
ge

r. 
 

 A
ny

 te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 

 A
ny

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
 

(a
) t

ha
t b

od
y 

(to
 y

ou
r k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 h

as
 a

 p
la

ce
 o

f b
us

in
es

s 
or

 la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y;

 a
nd

  
(b

) e
ith

er
 - 

 
 

th
e 

to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ec

ur
iti

es
 e

xc
ee

ds
 £

25
,0

00
 o

r o
ne

 h
un

dr
ed

th
 o

f t
he

 to
ta

l i
ss

ue
d 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t 

bo
dy

; o
r  

 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
.  

 

Page 8



 

 

 
 

Name of meeting: Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel  
 
Date: 27th August 2020   
   
Title of report: Housing Rent and Support to Council Tenants and Support to Homeless 
Households and Rough Sleepers During the Covid 19 Pandemic 

  
Purpose of report: To provide Panel members with information on the provision of services 
and support to Council tenants in relation to the payment of housing rent and to homeless 
households and rough sleepers during the Covid 19 pandemic. 
 
 

Key Decision - Is it likely to result in 
spending or saving £250k or more, or to 
have a significant effect on two or more 
electoral wards?   

Not Applicable 
 

Key Decision - Is it in the Council’s 
Forward Plan (key decisions and private 
reports)? 
 

Key Decision – Not Applicable 
 

The Decision - Is it eligible for call in by 
Scrutiny? 
 

Not Applicable  
 
 

Date signed off by Strategic Director & 
name 
 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Finance? 
 
Is it also signed off by the Service 
Director for Legal Governance and 
Commissioning? 
 

Karl Battersby – 18.08.2020 
 
Richard Parry – 18.08.2020  
 
Not Applicable 
 
 
Not Applicable 

Cabinet member portfolio Cllr Cathy Scott – Democracy and Housing  
 

 
Electoral wards affected: All 
 
Ward councillors consulted:  Not Applicable 

 
Public or private: Public 

 

Has GDPR been considered?  Yes GDPR has been considered. The information in this report 
does not identify any individuals. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=139


 

 

Page 2 of the report 
 

1. Summary 
 

1.1 Housing Rents and Financial Support to Council Tenants 
 

1.1.1 The financial and employment situation of many council tenants has been adversely 
affected by Covid-19; employers have moved staff onto the furlough scheme creating a 
reduction in income, many others are working reduced hours, and some have lost their 
jobs.  
 

1.1.2 Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing’s (KNH), Income Management Team has responded to 
this by taking a range of pro-active steps to support tenants faced with financial hardship. 
This support is balanced with the need to collect rent payments and protect the tenant 
from falling into further debt.  
 

1.1.3 All council tenants with an arrears balance are identified by an arrears escalation process 
and subsequently contacted by an income officer. Supportive discussions are held, and 
realistic re-payment plans agreed. Customers are offered budgeting and money advice 
and assisted with benefit claims. 
 

1.1.4 In cases where additional vulnerability or complex needs are identified, the KNH income 
officer will make the necessary referrals to ensure a holistic package of support is in 
place to help the tenant sustain their tenancy.   
 

1.1.5 All tenants in receipt of benefits, affected by furlough, or have lost their jobs are asked if 
they would benefit from a referral to the KNH Employment Support Team. The team 
support the tenant with educational opportunities such as online courses, assistance with 
completing CV’s and job applications, or to seek new employment opportunities. In the 
last month, 45 tenants have accessed the team for guidance, support and advice. 
 

1.1.6 The Income Management Team has assisted with a wider piece of work to contact 
tenants aged 70 years or older. These calls have been made in order to check on any 
wellbeing issues and to check if they have support in place to assist with 
groceries/shopping, collecting medication and access to food parcels. This support has 
been extended to other tenants facing financial hardship.  
 

1.1.7 Universal Claimants (UC) account for 55% of all rent arrears, and during the lockdown 
period an additional 502 tenants managed by KNH have made Universal Credit (UC) 
claims for the first time. When new claimants are identified KNH’s, Income Management 
Team have been pro-actively contacting them to offer support. 
 

1.1.8 Tenants are offered a referral to KNH’s Money Advice Team, enabling them to access a 
free and professional money advice service. They are offered one to one support to 
manage finances, assisted with benefit entitlements and other creditor debts and where 
applicable access to grant funding may assist to clear substantial debt.  
 

1.1.9 During the lockdown period 259 tenants have been referred into the team and during Q1 
£274,277.83 worth of financial gain has been generated for our tenants.  
 

1.1.10 KNH offers a range of support mechanisms to assist with the prevention of rent arrears, and 
employment and debt advice. Many households with rent arrears are family homes with 
children, some live in deprived communities with high levels of worklessness and face 
financial hardship.  

Page 10



 

 

 
1.1.11 KNH will only take possession of a property on behalf of the council when all opportunities to 

recover arrears of rent have been made. We are aware of how the displacement of a family 
with children can often mean that local support networks are lost, children may need to move 
schools, children known to social care may move out of an area, and the overall health and 
wellbeing of the family can be impacted.  

 
1.1.12 To avoid children and families being displaced we work in conjunction with a range of 

support services, including the Stronger Families team to ensure all available support is 
given to prevent the loss of the tenant’s home. 
 

1.1.13 KNH will only take enforcement action to repossess a property when all attempts to 
recover rent and arrears has been exhausted. To date the Coronavirus Act 2020 has 
provided residential tenancies with protection from eviction. The county courts have 
stayed all pending possession claim hearings and KNH has temporarily ceased 
enforcement action.  
 

1.1.14 The government legislation to cease enforcement action, has necessitated the need for a 
strengthened partnership approach to support council tenants facing hardship.  
 

1.1.15 KNH have worked closely with the following partners to develop new protocols that 
respond to government legislation, and the amended possession practice directions of 
the Judiciary Department: 

 Huddersfield County Court Judges 

 Fusion Housing 

 Kirklees Council Legal Services 

 Connect Housing 

 DWP 
 

1.1.16 This collaborative approach has enabled the swift development of new protocols and has 
strengthened our partnership approach. This will enable us to achieve our shared 
objective of supporting tenants sustain their tenancy. 
 

1.1.17 The restrictions will be lifted on the 23rd August 20, and replaced by measures that must 
be taken by a landlord before proceeding with enforcement action.    
 

1.1.18 The new measures include a requirement for KNH to inform the courts in writing if they 
wish to reactivate stayed possession hearings and evictions. In advance of any hearings 
the courts require an activation notice that includes the full history of rent arrears, any 
vulnerability issues, financial circumstances, and if a tenant has had to shield for a period 
of time. KNH are working closely with the county court judges, legal services, and other 
partners to ensure we meet the new requirements.   
 

1.1.19 A review of all stayed cases has been undertaken to determine which cases require 
reactivating the restrictions are lifted. All tenants faced with either possession or eviction 
action have been contacted and reassured that KNH will not seek possession of their 
property during the stayed period, but have been urged to take the support offered to 
enable them to meet rent payments. 

 
1.1.20 To support this, all correspondence relating to rent arrears which directly refers to 

potential or imminent enforcement action has been amended. Additional information 
around the range of available support has been provided. The Money Advice Team has 

Page 11



 

 

devised a leaflet promoting their services and this is sent in all correspondence to the 
tenant.  
 

1.1.21 Despite the challenges, this proactive work appears to have prevented a significant 
increase in rent arrears. The DWP post UC payments to tenants accounts every four 
weeks. This results in a ‘low’ period of arrears when the DWP payment is made (week 15 
arrears - £3,063,134k), and this is the ‘true’ arrears balance. Then follows a period where 
no UC payments are made, and arrears increase to their highest level (week 18 arrears - 
£3,491,110). A DWP file is expected at week 19, and this payment is expected to be 
circa £750k. This payment may reduce the arrears below the current lowest point at 
week 15, and this reflects the hard work taken by our officers to support tenants.   
 

1.1.22 There is a need to be cautious about the ability for tenants to pay rent and arrears in the 
future and we are prepared for this. Many UC claimants have benefited from increased 
payments during lockdown, in addition to free school meals and other benefits. It is also 
worth noting that creditors have offered payment breaks and stopped recovery action for 
debts owed. When this re-commences this could mean that tenants are pressured into 
making payments towards these debts rather than rent payments. 
                           

1.2      Homeless Households and Rough Sleepers   

1.2.1 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 (HRA17) placed increased duties on Local 
Authorities to prevent and relieve homelessness for eligible households regardless of 
whether or not they are in a priority need group by offering information and support but 
not a requirement to secure accommodation. The main homelessness statutory duty to 
eligible homeless households in defined priority need groups remains as does the Local 
Authorities duty to secure for such priority households suitable accommodation. In 
addition, the duty to provide interim or temporary accommodation remains.  
 

 Homeless Households 
 

1.2.2 In response to the national Covid 19 lockdown and government guidance that only 
essential house moves should take place, the letting of the Council’s housing via Choose 
n Move was suspended on the 25th March. On the 13th May further government guidance 
confirmed that “non-essential” house moves could resume stressing that social landlords 
“will need to consider how to carry out their activities in line with the government’s advice 
on social distancing in the workplace”. The letting of council homes restarted on the 17th 
June 2020. 

 
1.2.3 Since lockdown was introduced the Housing Solutions Services has continued to 

maintain the delivery of statutory homelessness services, especially the requirements to 
provide temporary accommodation for eligible households and a wider group of 
homeless people, including verified rough sleepers and those with no recourse to public 
funds.  

 
1.2.4 Most staff in the Housing Solutions Service have been working from home providing 

information, advice, assessment and support by telephone. Out of hours services are 
provided by the Council’s Emergency Duty Team. The Customer Service Centres in 
Dewsbury and Huddersfield remain closed but if people present in person, saying they 
have no access to a phone and are ‘roofless’ they can be seen, in accordance with social 
distancing requirements, by a member of a small staff team working in Dewsbury and 
Huddersfield.  

 

Page 12



 

 

1.2.5 At the start of lockdown in anticipation of an increase in demand for temporary 
accommodation for homeless households and for people needing to be discharged from 
hospital or moved through the care system as a result of the worsening Covid 19 crisis, a 
joint Council and Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing (KNH) Project Team was established 
to: - 

 Establish the existing range, capacity and availability of temporary 
accommodation and how to increase the number and range of temporary 
accommodation options.  

 Agree how in line with government Covid guidance households could when 
appropriate be safely and logistically supported to move on from temporary 
accommodation into council homes to free up temporary accommodation capacity. 

 Confirm the process for letting properties and signing up new tenants. 
 

1.2.6 Additional hotel/B&B rooms and serviced apartments have been identified and 
arrangements for their use as temporary accommodation agreed. In addition, a further 30 
council properties have been added to the temporary accommodation portfolio. 

 
1.2.7 Despite lower overall volumes of people presenting as homeless in the last 3-4 months, 

the levels of households requiring temporary accommodation has been higher during 
COVID-19 restrictions. Also, the length of stay has increased as people have not been 
able to move-on from temporary accommodation because of the restrictions placed on 
non-essential house moves across the housing market. From 123 households at the end 
of January 2020 there has been around a 65% increase in households in temporary 
accommodation.  
 

 
 
1.2.8 This includes greater use of B&B placements which have doubled since January. 

(Snapshot B&B figure 37 in January 2020).  
 

1.2.9 It is anticipated that as restrictions on evictions are lifted and as the economic situation 
worsens that more households will present as homeless, adding further pressure to the 
temporary accommodation portfolio and support services. 

 
 Rough Sleepers ‘Everyone In’ 

 
1.2.10 Government’s response to Covid 19 and rough sleeping is to bring in those on the streets 

to protect their health and stop wider transmission. Local Authorities were asked to 
support verified rough sleepers into appropriate accommodation by the end of the week 
commencing 23rd March 2020 and to continue to support people to stay in that 
accommodation until such time as restrictions ease and step down arrangements can be 
put in place.  

Page 13



 

 

1.2.11 As at 31st March, the Rough Sleeping team within the Housing Solutions Service 
(together with colleagues and partner agencies) had successfully engaged with and 
accommodated all verified rough sleepers (14 individuals, 9 of which were known to 
services and entrenched rough sleepers) except for one person who chose to decline the 
accommodation offer and unfortunately continues to refuse support and accommodation. 
 

1.2.13 The team has continued throughout the Covid restrictions to do outreach work to verify 
rough sleepers and in accordance with MHCLG guidance encourage and support them 
to accept and maintain temporary accommodation. Recently a further rough sleeper has 
been identified but so far refuses to engage or accept support or accommodation. In total 
40 verified rough sleepers have been accommodated since the start of lockdown. Of 
these 15 remain in temporary accommodation, 17 have been successfully moved on to 
more secure accommodation and 8 are being supported by staff to stay with friends or 
relatives until they are ready to move on.  
 

1.2.14 The Rough Sleeper team is now actively providing on-going intensive support to 48 
former rough sleepers. At the time of writing none of those brought in under the Everyone 
In initiative had left their accommodation to return to the streets. 

 

 Health and Well-being Support 
 

1.2.15 From the outset of the lockdown the Housing Solutions Service and Public Health 
collaborated to ensure that services for rough sleepers and other homeless households 
in TA are provided in accordance with guidance for those deemed at high risk to Covid-
19 and/or symptomatic as well as support for those who are substance dependent. 
Working with partner agencies (E.g. CHART and the Whitehouse Surgery) we quickly 
arranged GP registration and access to substance misuse support which has we believe 
contributed to people staying in accommodation. 

 

1.2.16 Housing Solutions Service staff continue to provide telephone support for rough sleepers 
and other homeless households in TA - this is done on a case by case basis and in 
accordance with their personal housing plans.  Support is also in place with regards food 
supply; mental health support and substance misuse needs through partner agencies.   
 

1.2.17 Housing Services staff have in collaboration with health and social care colleagues 
implemented new ways of working to support the discharge of people form hospital or to 
help people move on through the care system.  
 

 A dedicated Housing Solutions Officer was appointed to work alongside the 
hospital discharge teams. During the 3 months April – June a total of 41 patients 
ready for discharge, who had indicated that they had nowhere suitable to live on 
discharge, were supported to identify and secure suitable accommodation. Of the 
41 it was established following assessment that 21 people were owed a statutory 
homeless relief or prevention duty.  
 

 Accessible Homes Occupational Therapists collaborated with social care and 
health colleagues to agree and support the Discharge to Assess pathway. The 
pathway prioritised the assessment and provision of equipment and home 
adaptations to support people move home safely. In addition, 40 straight stock 
stair lifts and 40 stock hoists were offered to NHS and Social Care colleagues for 
emergency hospital discharge and also to be used for end of life or hospital 
admission prevention. KNH colleagues agreed to fit lifts within 2 days and 
agreement was reached with a local external contractor to fit hoists within 5 days 
 

Page 14



 

 

2. Information required to take a decision 
 

2.1 No decision is required; this information report is submitted at the request of the 
Economy and Neighbourhoods Scrutiny Panel. 

 

3. Implications for the Council 
 

 Working with People 
 
All council tenants with an arrears balance are identified by an arrears escalation 
process and subsequently contacted by an income officer. Supportive discussions are 
held, and realistic re-payment plans agreed. Customers are offered budgeting and 
money advice and assisted with benefit claims. 
 
In cases where additional vulnerability or complex needs are identified, the income 
officer will make the necessary referrals to ensure a holistic package of support is in 
place to help the tenant sustain their tenancy.   
 
All tenants in receipt of benefits, affected by furlough, or have lost their jobs are asked 
if they would benefit from a referral to the KNH Employment Support Team. The team 
support the tenant with educational opportunities such as online courses, assistance 
with completing CV’s and job applications, or to seek new employment opportunities. 
In the last month, 45 tenants have accessed the team for guidance, support and 
advice. 
 
The income management team has assisted with a wider piece of work to contact 
tenants aged 70 years or older. These calls have been made in order to check on any 
wellbeing issues and to check if they have support in place to assist with 
groceries/shopping, collecting medication and access to food parcels. This support 
has been extended to other tenants facing financial hardship.  
 
All people who present as homeless are supported to develop a Personal Housing Plan. 
This plan is an agreement between the authority and the individual which is based on the 
individual or households circumstances and support needs and sets out the actions that 
each will take to prevent them from becoming homeless or to find and secure suitable 
and affordable accommodation. 

 

 Working with Partners 
 

The government legislation to cease enforcement action, has necessitated the need 
for a strengthened partnership approach to support council tenants facing hardship.  
 
KNH have worked closely with the following partners to develop new protocols that 
respond to government legislation, and the amended possession practice directions 
of the Judiciary Department: 

 Huddersfield County Court Judges 

 Fusion Housing 

 Kirklees Council Legal Services 

 Connect Housing 

 DWP. 
 

Page 15



 

 

This collaborative approach has enabled the swift development of new protocols and 
has our strengthened partnership approach. This will enable us to achieve our shared 
objective of supporting tenants sustain their tenancy. 

 
It is recognised that meeting the housing needs of Kirklees residents and ownership 
of the preventing and relieving homelessness agenda must be partnership based, 
across the council and its partners. The council cannot meet the districts housing 
needs or prevent homelessness on its own, partners play a vital role in meeting the 
wider housing needs of Kirklees residents and in preventing and responding to 
homelessness. In developing our responses to the corona virus, we have and 
continue to work collaboratively with key services and partners including: - 

 Kirklees Neighbourhood Housing and registered providers of social housing 

 Health services 

 Providers of KC commissioned hostel accommodation 

 B&B and hotel proprietors 

 KC social care services. 
 

 Place Based Working   
 
Council tenants accessed the customer service centres to discuss a range of housing 
issues including rent arrears. The closure of the customer care centres, and the inability 
of KNH income officers being able to undertake home visits was an initial concern. 
 
The Income Management team has responded to this challenge and adopted new ways 
of working with our tenants in a remote way. This has involved communication with 
tenants by pre-arranged telephone appointments, text messages, and by online facilities.  
 
This has proved successful, with minimal impact on the service we provide. This is 
supported by no complaints about, or requests by tenants to access the customer 
service centres to see an officer in person. 

 

In addressing the housing needs of people especially those with issues of 
homelessness and rough sleeping, a Place Based approach is needed. This includes 
consideration of peoples support networks and where and how they access services. 
When providing temporary accommodation, we normally consider factors such as 
children’s education / childcare arrangements / employment and health and support 
needs so that wherever possible the accommodation provided is suitable. We will 
continue to consider these aspects however may not due to the current situation 
always be able to meet all needs or expectations. 
 

 Climate Change and Air Quality 
 

Homeworking by KNH’s income officers has reduced the omissions created by vehicle 
use when they travel to and from the workplace. 
 
When providing temporary accommodation all efforts are made to ensure that the 
accommodation is located within walking distance of town centres or as near as 
possible to well served bus routes.  
 
 

 Improving outcomes for children 
 

KNH offers a range of support mechanisms to assist with the prevention of rent arrears, 
and employment and debt advice. Many households with rent arrears are family homes 

Page 16



 

 

with children, some live in deprived communities with high levels of worklessness and 
face financial hardship.  
 
KNH will only take possession of a property when all opportunities to recover arrears of 
rent have been made. We are aware of how the displacement of a family with children 
can often mean that local support networks are lost, children may need to move schools, 
children known to social care may move out of an area, and the overall health and 
wellbeing of the family can be impacted.  
 
To avoid children and families being displaced we work in conjunction with a range of 
support services, including the Stronger Families team to ensure all available support is 
given to prevent the loss of the tenant’s home.  
 

For households with children presenting as homeless, where homelessness cannot be 
prevented, we have a statutory duty to secure suitable accommodation. Any 16- or 17-
year-old young person presenting as homeless has a child in need assessment carried 
out by a social worker and is offered suitable emergency accommodation pending the 
development of a care and personal housing plan. 

 

 Other (e.g. Legal/Financial or Human Resources)  
 

MHCLG announced a Coronavirus (COVID-19) Rough Sleeping Contingency Fund. 
This included £12k for Kirklees to help cover additional costs associated with 
accommodating and supporting rough sleepers. It is clear that the £12k will not cover 
such costs due to the numbers of people brought in and the length of time they have 
had to remain in temporary accommodation. (Total costs (gross) incurred in the first 8 
weeks from housing rough sleepers was £40,320). The increased use of and longer 
stays in B&B accommodation results in an increased pressure on council budgets as 
a result of housing benefit subsidy loss. Finance colleagues are monitoring and 
reporting the impact of this additional financial pressure.  
  
MHCLG announced Coronavirus (COVID-19) Emergency Funding for Local 
Government, £24m for KC, which includes provision to provide additional support for 
the homeless and rough sleepers. 
 
The recently announced MHCLG Next Steps Accommodation Programme, offers 
opportunities to bid for capital and revenue funding to provide additional 
accommodation and support to prevent rough sleepers returning to the streets. A bid 
proposal is currently being co-produced with MHCLG for submission on the 20th 
August 2020.  
 
KC Housing Solutions staff are continuing to deliver statutory homelessness and 
other essential services in accordance with government guidance on for example 
social distancing, travel and the use of PPE. 
 
Communication with homeless people and other individuals and households is being 
maintained albeit with a focus on telephone / electronic methods of communication 
rather than face to face.  
 

 

Do you need an Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)?  
 
Not in relation to this information report but IIA will be carried out in relation to future 
planning and any proposed changes to policy and service provision. 

Page 17



 

 

 
4. Consultees and their opinions 

 
4.1 The Portfolio Holder and Executive Team have been consulted on and approved 

decisions in relation to the approaches outlined above and taken to support homeless 
households and rough sleepers during the Covid 19 pandemic.  
 

5. Next steps and timelines 
 

5.1 The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on council tenants and rough sleepers and other 
homeless households will continue to be monitored and services adapted to support 
vulnerable Kirklees residents. 

 
6. Officer recommendations and reasons 

 
6.1 That information in the report be noted. 
 
7. Cabinet Portfolio Holder’s recommendations 

 
7.1 The impact of the Covid 19 pandemic on council tenants and rough sleepers and other 

homeless households will continue to be monitored and services adapted to support 
vulnerable Kirklees residents. 
 

8. Contact officer  
 
Sarah Clayton, Head of Housing Management, KNH 
 
Helen Geldart, Head of Housing Services, KC 
 

 
9. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

 
None 

 
10. Service Director responsible  

 
Joanne Bartholomew, Chief Operating Officer, KNH 
 
Naz Parkar, Service Director Growth and Housing, KC 

 
 

Page 18



 

1 
 

ECONOMY AND NEIGHBOURHOODS SCRUTINY PANEL  
 

MEMBERS:  Councillors: Harpreet Uppal (Lead Member), Martyn Bolt, Richard Eastwood, Yusra Hussain, Richard Murgatroyd and John Taylor  
 Co-optees: Andrew Bird, Chris Friend, Eilidh Ogden 

 
SUPPORT:  Leigh Webb, Principal Governance & Democratic Engagement Officer 
 

POTENTIAL ISSUES IDENTIFIED FOR INCLUSION IN THE WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 
 

ISSUE APPROACH AND AREAS OF FOCUS OFFICER/PARTNER COMMENTS 
FULL PANEL DISCUSSION ISSUES – CARRIED FORWARD FROM 2019/20 

1. Inward Investment Strategy 
 

 Inward Investment Strategy 

 which businesses/sectors should be targeted and what do they need 
to be sustainable and grow. 

 alternative sources of finance for environmental issues/ alternative 
energy use. 

Originally scheduled for April 2020 
(cancelled due to Covid 19) 

2. Tackling Poverty 
 

 What organisations can do to design services which integrate and 
consider the impact of poverty in how people access, use and 
experience services; 

 How poverty can be considered as part of decision-making 
processes across the authority;  

 Inclusive Economy work – e.g. good work, local spend and social 
value;  

 How can employers work together to optimise the opportunities 
for investment in good quality pre-Apprenticeships and 
Apprenticeships programmes? How can we transfer good 
practice in health and social care to other sectors of the local 
economy? 

  What Council can do to support their own staff who may be living   
in poverty e.g. poverty proofing in a work-based setting. 

Originally scheduled for April 2020 
(cancelled due to Covid 19) 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8



 

2 
 

3. Active Travel 
 
 
 

To continue to monitor current and planned infrastructure. 
 
 

Originally considered at joint meeting 
on 28 Feb 2020 - Panel resolved to 
keep the issue on the work programme 
and arrange a half day workshop to 
allow for more in depth consideration.  
Cycling and Walking visit (29 March 
cancelled due to Covid 19) To be re-
arranged when possible 
 

4. Digital Strategy 
 
 

 Progress with physical infrastructure but also in respect of the wider 
promotion of the advantages of the Kirklees district.  

 The work being undertaken relating to the development of 
appropriate skills (links in with Skills Strategy) 

 The work being done to ensure that residents within more rural areas 
are supported to be able to access a digital network that is fit for 
purpose and future proofed. 

 

Originally considered March 2020. 
Panel resolved to receive update on 
digital agenda after 12 months. 

5. Air Quality Following introduction of 5 year Action Pan, to monitor and consider the 
following: 

 

 Which measures have proven effective and which provide good 
value for money.  

 Addressing the issue of vehicles with idling engines particularly 
outside schools. 

 How the planning system can be used/will address issues in relation 
to infrastructure to encourage sustainable transport/active travel.  

 Improving infrastructure to encourage travel by public 
transport/cycling and walking.  

 Encouraging/ facilitating better options for travel to school to 
reduce use of private cars. 
 

 

The Panel considered the Air Quality 
Action Plan in Oct 19 as part of its 
development. A number of areas to 
monitor were identified following 
implementation of the Action Plan. 

P
age 20



 

3 
 

6. Planning Related Matters Hot Food Takeaway  
 
CIL + Viability Guidance  
 

Deferred from Jan 2020 
 
Considered Jan 2020 – further 
examination prior to adoption by 
Council 

7. Towns and Communities in Kirklees  Assess the objectives/delivery of plans to include the 
aspirations/vision for the towns, public realm and infrastructure. 

 Consideration of the wider context of other town centres/ villages 
across Kirklees to include looking at the key challenges and 
opportunities that could influence this agenda.  

 

July 2019 Report on the Huddersfield 
Blueprint – with a focus on 
engagement and consultation. 
 
Future updates/reports requested as 
plans develop 
 

PROPOSED NEW ISSUE FOCUS OFFICER/PARTNER COMMENTS 

1. COVID-19  
 
 
 
 

To consider the impact of COVID-19 on areas falling within the remit of 
the Economy and Neighbourhoods Panel. Potential areas for 
consideration: 
 

   Waste Collection/Recycling/Fly Tipping 

   Economic Impact including: 
- Business Grants (processing and take up) 
- Measures to support the local economy and aid 

economic recovery 
- Understanding the budget implications of dealing with 

the crisis and the longer-term financial impact. 
- Impact on poverty and tackling inequalities 

 

 Community Response (including capacity of voluntary 
organisations within the community and the strengthening ) 
 

 Housing Rents (Impact on tenants following recent increase in 
council housing rents ; help provided to tenants who may require 
financial support)  

 

P
age 21



 

4 
 

 Supplementary Planning Documents – Residential Design and 
Householder extensions and alterations 

 

P
age 22


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Interests
	7 Housing Rent and Support to Council Tenants and Support to Homeless Households and Rough Sleepers During the Covid 19 Pandemic
	8 Work programme 2020/21

